FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
6/2/2023 8:55 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/2/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102049-0

No. 392996 Douglas County Superior Court Cause No. 21-2-00050-09, Consolidated with 21-2-00053-09

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TWIN W OWNERS' ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner,

VS.

ANDREW MURPHY and JENNIFER MURPHY,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

H. Lee Lewis Law, PLLC H. Lee Lewis, WSBA #46478 800 5th Ave, Ste. 101-800 Seattle, WA 98104 206.741.7442 Lee@HLL-Law.com

Attorneys for Appellant, Twin W Owners' Association

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Twin W Owners' Association, respectfully petitions for review of the Opinion identified in **Section B** below.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Association seeks review of the Division III

Published Opinion in this matter, filed May 16, 2023. A copy
of the Opinion is in the **Appendix** at pages A-1 through A-10.

The Opinion affirms several superior court orders (the
"Orders") that render invalid and unenforceable certain
amendments to the Association's CCRs, approved by fewer
than 100% of the Association's members, which seek to
monitor and regulate short-term vacation rental businesses
(STVRs).

The Association also asks this Court to overturn the opinion upon which Division III and the superior court based

their respective Opinion and Orders: Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Association, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). Wilkinson is incorrect and harmful for at least two reasons. First, Wilkinson holds that STVRs cannot, under any circumstances, constitute commercial business use of residential property. *Id.* at 253–53. This holding hamstrings homeowner associations, like the Association here, as well as local municipalities, preventing them from regulating STVRs on the same level with other commercial lodging uses of residential property, such as bed-and-breakfasts.

Second, Wilkinson changed the law of CCR analysis in Washington, rejecting the long-held "consistent with the general plan of development" standard in favor of a "new" versus "modification" rubric that is prone to error and rejected by other jurisdictions.

¹ In the interest of full candor to the tribunal, the current president of Twin W Owners' Association is Ben Harnetiaux. Ben is the son of now-retired attorney, Bryan P. Harnetiaux.

While perhaps valid in 2014, *Wilkinson* is now an incorrect and harmful anachronism. This Court should accept review in this action to overrule it. In so doing, this Court can conclude, based on the undisputed facts before it, that the STVRs at issue here are commercial business uses and therefore subject to regulation under the Association's business restriction CCRs, which the Association can properly amend with less than 100%-member approval.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE: The Association sought to amend its CCRs to regulate and monitor STVR businesses. Unable to amend the business use restrictions in its CCRs without violating this Court's holding in *Wilkinson* that STVRs are not commercial business use of residential property, the Association amended its residential use restrictions to regulate STVRs. The superior court held these amendments to be invalid and unenforceable "new" CCRs under *Wilkinson*, a holding that Division III affirmed. After *Wilkinson* was decided in 2014, local, state, and

national authorities, including Washington state, in response to the groundswell of STVR businesses, passed laws defining STVRs as "commercial uses" and holding STVRs to the same commercial business standards as bed-and-breakfasts, hotels, and other lodging businesses. The questions presented for review are:

- 1. Should this Court accept review of Division III's Opinion under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because post-Wilkinson legislation renders Wilkinson incorrect and harmful, and the (in)applicability of Wilkinson in light of such legislation involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?
- 2. Should this Court accept review of Division III's Opinion under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the ability of owner associations like the Association to regulate STVR businesses is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?
- 3. Should this Court accept review of Division III's Opinion under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because post-Wilkinson ordinances enacted by local governments that define, regulate, and prohibit STVRs as "commercial" uses of residential property implicate a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington?

If the Court answers any of these questions in the affirmative, it should accept review and grant the relief the Association requests.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Association is an RCW 64.38 homeowners' association formed in 2002, consisting of 94 properties along the Columbia River. CP 52. Its CCRs exist for a specific, defined purpose: "to create and maintain a protected rural life style." CP 15. In 2004, the Association recorded amended CCRs, which contain broad-concept residential usage restrictions, prohibiting "unreasonable interference" with other lots as well as "noxious" and "offensive" activity. CP 15, 16.

The CCRs also restrict business uses, prohibiting onpremise sales and nuisance businesses:

2.12 <u>Businesses</u>. No store or business shall be carried upon said premises or permitted thereon which involves on-premises sales, or which constitutes a nuisance.

CP 18.

The term "nuisance" is undefined, and the CCRs neither permit nor prohibit rental use, either short- or long-term. The express language of the CCRs provides that a 60% majority is all that is required to either "approve" or "amend" the CCRs:

- 3.1 <u>Approval</u>. When these covenants require owner approval such approval shall be by sixty percent (60%) vote, with one vote per lot (a "Lot").
- 3.2 <u>Amendment</u>. Amendment of these covenants shall be by sixty percent (60%) vote, with one vote per Lot. Amendments shall be in writing and recorded in the same manner as these covenants.

Id.

In 2020, responding to complaints from Lot owners regarding noise, garbage, property damage, and other 'nuisances' attributable to STVRs (CP 10–11), the Association voted to amend its CCRs to "define and regulate" STVRs. CP 76. The STVR Amendments were approved by a vote of more than 60%, but fewer than 100%, of Lot owners. CP 54.

Because this Court's 2014 decision in *Wilkinson*prohibits consideration of STVRs as commercial business use
of residential property, the Association was not able to draft its
STVR amendments as amendments to its business restriction
CCRs; rather, the STVR amendments were crafted as
amendments to the broadly-worded 'reasonable use' and
'offensive activity' residential restrictions:

2.21 <u>Short-Term Rental Properties</u>. Pursuant to Section 1.1 (Preamble), Section 1.2 (Preamble), Section 2.1 (Reasonable Use), and Section 2.4 (Offensive Activity), the rental of Lots for periods of less than thirty days at a time to any person ("Short-Term Rental"), other than the rental of an accessory dwelling unit, shall be subject to the following regulations intended to protect the other Lot owners from unreasonable interference with their use and enjoyment of their Lots.

CP 36, 79.

Intentionally unlike the amendments at issue in *Wilkinson*, the Association's STVR amendments do not prohibit STVRs outright. Instead, they work to phase out STVRs in the long run, creating an annual registration process

whereby Association lot owners register their intent to use their property(ies) for STVRs. The registration is 'use-it-or-lose-it' in nature; failure to register annually forever bars a property owner from using a lot for STVRs. Transferring ownership of a lot also acts to bar subsequent owners from STVR lot usage.

Consistent with RCW 64.37.050, STVR lot owners must also purchase liability insurance, naming the Association and neighboring lot owners as additional insureds. CP 36–38.

Respondents in this action, the Murphys, purchased their lot in 2006 and have used it as an STVR near-exclusively since 2009. CP 52. The Murphys objected to the STVR Amendments and indicated their refusal to comply with those amendments. *See* CP 53–55.

The Association and the Murphys sued one another and filed cross-motions for summary judgment, seeking a determination as to the validity and enforceability of the STVR amendments. The superior court, applying the *Wilkinson*Court's "new" versus "modified" CCR analysis, determined

that the STVR amendments were invalid and unenforceable because they were new restrictions on residential Lot use and therefore required approval of 100% of the Association's ownership to be valid. CP 122–27, RP 31. Division III ultimately affirmed. Appx. 1–10. This timely Petition followed.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this matter involves two issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court: (1) the (in)applicability of *Wilkinson* in light of post-*Wilkinson* legislation and the rapid expansion of the STVR industry, and (2) the (in)ability of owner associations like the Association to regulate STVRs as commercial business uses.

The Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because this matter involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington: the (in)validity of local government ordinances that define,

regulate, and prohibit STVRs as "commercial" use of residential property, given *Wilkinson*'s holding that STVRs cannot, under any circumstances, be considered commercial in nature.

1. This Court decided *Wilkinson* when the modern STVR industry was in its infancy. Subsequent expansion of the industry as commercial businesses and concomitant local, state, and national regulation require *Wilkinson*'s revisitation and overturning.

In 2014, the *Wilkinson* Court held that STVRs could not, under any circumstances, be considered as commercial business use of residential property:

If a vacation renter uses a home "for the purposes of eating, sleeping, and other residential purposes," this use is residential, not commercial, no matter how short the rental duration. The owner's receipt of rental income either from short-or long-term rentals in no way detracts or changes the residential characteristics of the use by the tenant. Nor does the payment of business and occupation taxes or lodging taxes detract from the residential character of such use to make the use commercial in character.

Wilkinson, 180 Wn.2d at 252–53 (internal quotation omitted).

This portion of *Wilkinson* should be overruled as incorrect and harmful. *State v. W.R., Jr.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 768, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014) (this Court will "overrule a prior decision only upon a clear showing that the rule it announced is incorrect and harmful"). A rule can become incorrect when subsequent law-making bodies clarify that the Court's "prior understanding was erroneous." *Id.*; *see*, *e.g.*, *State v. Abdulle*, 174 Wn.2d 411, 420, 275 P.3d 1113 (2012) (overruling precedent after clarification from U.S. Supreme Court). Here, subsequent legislation at the local, state, and national level corrects the Court's 2014 erroneous prior understanding of the commercial business nature of STVRs.

a. The STVR Industry expanded rapidly after 2014.

For many years, STVRs have been a popular lodging choice for a minority of travelers in high volume tourist destinations in the United States. With the advent of technology-based online platforms that facilitate the marketing

and booking of STVRs, this market has expanded rapidly across the nation, including Washington state.

The incredible growth of two companies, Airbnb and HomeAway, evidence the STVR industry's rapid expansion. Airbnb was founded in 2009 "when two hosts welcomed three guests to their San Francisco home." The company now has 4 million hosts "in almost every country across the globe." https://news.airbnb.com/about-us/ (last visited June 2, 2023).

² This Petition for Review contains multiple website citations, directing the Court to "legislative facts," which are appropriate for this Court to consider when "asked to decide on policy grounds whether to continue or eliminate a common law rule." Wyman v. Wallace, 94 Wn.2d 99, 102–03, 615 P.2d 452 (1980). Legislative facts are "background information a court may take into account when determining the constitutionality or proper interpretation of a statute, or when extending or restricting common law rule." Cameron v. Murray, 151 Wn. App. 646, 658–59, 214 P.3d 150 (2009), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1018 (2010) (citing Wyman). Moreover, it is appropriate for this Court to consider evidence outside the record "for the limited purpose of helping this court decide whether to accept direct review." Dioxin/Organochlorine Center v. Department of Ecology, 119 Wn.2d 761, 769–70, 837 P.2d 1007 (1992). The Association respectfully requests that the Court take judicial notice of the legislative facts found on the cited web pages for the limited purpose of deciding whether to accept direct review.

HomeAway, another STVR company that includes the website VRBO.com, launched in 2006, grew rapidly, and was acquired by Expedia in 2015 for \$3.9 billion, a price nearly 20% higher than its market value at that point.³ It currently offers more than "2 million bookable vacation rentals." https://www.vrbo.com/ (last visited June 2, 2023).

b. STVR expansion created the need for regulation.

This explosion of the STVR industry since 2014 has not been problem-free. A recent Policy Brief from former Seattle City Councilmember, Tim Burgess, notes that in addition to the pressure "commercial use of" STVRs places on limited housing resources, "many neighbors of units that have been converted to [STVRs] raise legitimate questions about neighborhood livability":

³https://www.nytimes.com/2015/11/05/business/dealbook/expe dia-to-acquire-homeaway-for-3-9-billion.html?_r=0 (last visited June 2, 2023).

[T]he **more commercial use** of short term rental platforms has taken entire houses, condos and apartments off of the long term housing market.... **Commercial enterprises** utilizing online rental platforms to market **multiple units** in **multiple locations** further exacerbate the housing crisis facing Seattle.⁴

Reacting to complaints from neighbors of properties being utilized as STVRs, local governments, including Chelan County and the cities of Seattle and Spokane, have enacted laws to regulate, restrict, and in some cases, outright ban, STVRs. For example, Chelan County recently passed code revisions to regulate STVRs, including a requirement that all STVR properties obtain UBI numbers. CCC 11.88.290 (*effective* 9/27/2021).⁵ Spokane likewise considers STVRs to be commercial businesses. *See* SMC 17C.316.040(C) (requiring

_

⁴https://www.seattle.gov/Documents/Departments/Council/Issu es/RegulatingShortTermRentals/Regulating-Short-Term-Rentals---Policy-Brief.pdf, at pp. 3, 5 (last visited June 2, 2023) (emphasis added).

⁵https://www.co.chelan.wa.us/files/community-development/Draft%20Code_2020_0709_PC%20Rec_sub715. pdf (adopted 7/27/2021) (last visited June 2, 2023).

permit and City business license). Seattle regulates STVRs to "protect the livability of residential neighborhoods." SMC 6.600.010.

Other local governments in Washington have followed suit, adopting regulations concerning "traffic mitigation, parking, noise, other impacts, and consumer safety." SHB 1798 Senate Bill Report, March 26, 2019, at 2. Even Washington's Department of Revenue, as of October of 2015, has an agreement with Airbnb to collect retail and hotel/motel taxes to remit directly to DOR.⁶ Indeed, cities across the country have passed similar laws in response to the rapidly-growing STVR industry – laws that treat STVRs as commercial business and

_

⁶https://dor.wa.gov/get-form-or-publication/publications-subject/tax-topics/airbnb-collect-and-send-taxes-behalf-hosts (last visited June 2, 2023).

seek to regulate revenue and mitigate parking, traffic, noise, and other 'neighborhood livability' impacts.⁷

c. Washington enacts the Short-Term Rental Act.

In 2019, Washington state joined this chorus of national legislation, enacting SHB 1798, codified as the Short-Term Rental Act (RCW 64.37.010–050). CP 259–61. The act establishes once and for all the commercial business character of STVRs in Washington state. Under the act, STVRs statewide must now pay applicable business taxes, provide safety disclosures and post escape routes, advertise on platforms that meet state disclosure requirements, and obtain \$1M in general liability insurance specifically to cover STVR use – all actions required of any other commercial lodging businesses. *Id.* The Bill's sponsor, Representative Cindy Ryu, stated the commercial business intent in her introducing the

⁷https://www.alltherooms.com/resources/articles/airbnb-regulations/ (last visited June 2, 2023).

Bill: "I introduced this bill to even the playing field for our local hotels." 8

The laws identified above, including Washington's Short-Term Rental Act, permit regulation of STVRs as "commercial" uses. But *Wilkinson* creates a carve-out, prohibiting owner associations to from regulating STVRs as commercial use of residential property. In other words, current Washington law effectively holds that STVRs are commercial business uses for all purposes *other than regulation by owner associations like the Association*. *Wilkinson* is therefore 'clearly harmful' to owner associations, like the Association, desiring to regulate STVR businesses to mitigate parking, noise, and other 'neighborhood livability impacts' that STVR commercial businesses can and do create.

_

⁸https://lodgingmagazine.com/washington-state-passes-short-term-rental-legislation/ (last visited June 2, 2023) (emphasis added).

Moreover, the carve-out renders the commercial intent of the Short-Term Rental Act "superfluous and meaningless" when applied to STVR business conducted on properties governed by owner associations. "A statute must not be judicially construed in a manner that renders any part of the statute meaningless or superfluous." *Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wn.2d 214, 227, 67 P.3d 1061 (2003).

In light of the rapid development of the STVR industry and the evolution of laws regulating STVRs since 2014—particularly the 2019 Short Term Vacation Rental Act—*Wilkinson* is ripe for revisitation. The Court should accept review to reverse its carve-out holding in *Wilkinson* as incorrect and harmful. *W.R.*, *Jr.*, 181 Wn 2d at 768.

2. Wilkinson's carve-out incorrectly and harmfully singles out owner associations like the Association, prohibiting them from regulating STVRs as commercial businesses.

As discussed supra, the Association sought to regulate

STVR use by amending its residential use restrictions, instead

of its business use restrictions, expressly because of *Wilkinson*. CP 36, 76, 79.

Had the Association, the superior court, and Division III, not been bound by Wilkinson's carve-out holding that STVRs cannot be considered commercial business uses, the Association could have drafted—and the courts could have considered—the 2020 Amendments as amendments to the CCR's business restrictions, which expressly prohibit "nuisance" businesses. CP 18. Given that the Association drafted its 2020 Amendments in direct response to STVR nuisance complaints from Association owner/members (CP. 10–11), amendments to the Association's CCRs that merely refine what constitutes a "nuisance" business cannot be considered 'new' restrictions requiring 100% approval of the Association's ownership to be valid; only a 60% vote would be sufficient. Wilkinson, 180 Wn.2d at 255–56. Wilkinson's carveout directly harmed the Association and will continue to harm it and other owner associations if not overturned.

3. Wilkinson's "new" versus "modified" CCR analysis should be rejected.

Wilkinson's requirement that superior courts distinguish between the nebulous, subjective terms of 'new restrictions' or 'modifications of existing restrictions' is ripe for error, such as the superior court's error here. Other jurisdictions reject this distinction. E.g., Adams v. Kimberley One Townhouse Owner's Ass'n, Inc., 352 P.3d 492, 497 (Idaho 2015) (declining to adopt a distinction between the addition of new restrictions and the modifications of existing restrictions, instead adopting an "unconscionable harm" standard); McElveen-Hunter v. Fountain Manor Ass'n, Inc., 386 S.E.2d 435, 435-36 (N.C. Ct. App. 1989), aff'd, 399 S.E.2d 112 (N.C. 1991) (upholding an amendment that added a new restriction against rentals of less than one year, reasoning that the plaintiff purchased the units subject to the rights of other owners to restrict their occupancy broadly and with notice before buying the units that the declaration was subject to change).

Here, Division III correctly noted that *Wilkinson*"impliedly rejected" the long-held rule in Washington that

CCRs are valid so long as they coincide with the "general plan

of development," instead adopting a "new" versus "modified"

analysis for CCRs:

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