FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/30/2023 4:10 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102049-0

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TWIN WOWNERS' ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner,

v.

ANDREW MURPHY and JENNIFER MURPHY,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Seth E. Chastain, WSBA # 43066 Ryan C. Sobotka, WSBA # 51217 LEVY | VON BECK | COMSTOCK | P.S. 1200 5th Avenue, Suite 1850 Seattle, Washington 98101 Telephone/Facsimile: (206) 626-5444

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

C. REASONS WHY REVIEW IS NOT MERITED

The Association requests review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), but fails to provide any evidence showing that this case "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." See RAP 13.4(b)(4). Subsequent legislation by cities and counties regarding short-term rentals does not affect the rule established in *Wilkinson*, let alone render it "incorrect and harmful." Moreover, the fact that the CCR analysis under Wilkinson restricts the Association's ability to eliminate short-term rentals does not transform the issues presented in this case into ones of substantial public interest requiring this Court to revisit and abandon well-established law. Further, the Association's request for this Court to disregard Wilkinson and adopt Idaho's "unconscionable harm" standard on the basis of the Association's dissatisfaction with the result in this case does meet the requirements under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Similarly, the Association's request under RAP 13.4(b)(3) fails as this case does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington. The Association conflates the ability of homeowners' associations to adopt restrictive covenants with the ability of governmental entities to enforce codes or ordinances regulating short-term rentals as commercial uses of residential property. *Wilkinson* does not address or place any restrictions on the authority of governmental entities, only homeowners' associations. Despite their often self-perceived authority, homeowners' associations are not governmental entities.

As discussed in detail below, the Association fails to meet the criteria under RAP 13.4(b)(3)–(4), and thus, review is not merited.

1. This Court Is Bound by Stare Decisis to Follow Its Correct Decision in *Wilkinson* Where It Held That Short-Term Vacation Rentals Are Not "Commercial Uses" Under Similar Facts.

This Court is bound by its prior decisions via stare decisis. W.H. v. Olympia Sch. Dist., 195 Wn.2d 779, 787, 465

P.3d 322 (2020) (citing *State v. Otton*, 185 Wn.2d 673, 678, 374 P.3d 1108 (2016)). "The principle of stare decisis 'requires a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned." *City of Fed. Way v. Koenig*, 167 Wn.2d 341, 346, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009) (citations omitted). "This respect for precedent 'promotes the evenhanded, predictable, and consistent development of legal principles, fosters reliance on judicial decisions, and contributes to the actual and perceived integrity of the judicial process." *Id.* at 347 (citing *Payne v. Tennessee*, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 S.Ct. 2597 (1991)).

When this Court is asked to reconsider a prior decision, it "is an invitation [this Court does] not take lightly." *State v. Barber*, 170 Wn.2d 854, 863, 248 P.3d 494 (2011).

The question is not whether we would make the same decision if the issue presented were a matter of first impression. Instead, the question is whether the prior decision is so problematic that it *must* be rejected, despite the many benefits of adhering to precedent[.]

Otton, 185 Wn.2d at 678 (italics in original).

The Association presents no valid basis for this Court to disregard stare decisis and abandon Wilkinson. The Association does not argue that Wilkinson was incorrect when decided-for good reason. Yet, the Association believes "this Court is ideally positioned to revisit Wilkinson" and should accept review on the basis that *Wilkinson* was a 5-4 decision where "[n]ow, only three of the five Justices signing onto the majority opinion serve on the Court." Petition for Review at 30. Clearly, the underlying hope of the Association is that the current makeup of this Court will make a different decision—under almost the exact same facts than when *Wilkinson* was decided. This blatant attempt by the Association at Justice shopping is an afront to the judicial integrity of Washington courts:

> The doctrine of stare decisis is probably more important in Washington than in other states. This is because when judges are elected, there is a tendency toward higher turnover in the judicial ranks than when judges are appointed. The resulting changes in court makeup consequently increase the likelihood that the court's judicial philosophy will change and, with such changes, the desire to abandon precedent intensifies. The doctrine of stare

decisis provides a check on such tendencies by emphasizing the rule of law so essential to our legal system.

Kelly Kunsch, Stare Decisis: Everything You Never Realized You Need To Know. Wash. Bar J. (Oct., 1998) at 32 (discussing CLEAN v. City of Spokane, 133 Wn.2d 455, 477-478, 947 P.2d 1169 (1997), cert. 515 U.S. 812 (1998)).

In *Wilkinson*, this Court unambiguously held that shortterm rentals are not "commercial uses." *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 249. As this Court explained, "[i]f a vacation renter uses a home 'for the purposes of eating, sleeping, and other residential purposes,' this use is residential, not commercial, no matter how short the rental duration." *Id.* at 252–53 (citing *Ross v. Bennett*, 148 Wn. App. 40, 51–52, 203 P.3d 383 (2009) (holding rental use is residential not commercial because it "is identical to [the homeowner's] use of the property, as a residence, or the use made by a long-term tenant").

Because the focus is on the <u>character of renters' use</u> of the property, this Court further held that the fact that association

owners may receive income from short-term rentals or that such owners—or companies they list their properties through—may be required to remit business, occupation, or lodging taxes does not change the nature of the property's <u>use</u> from residential to commercial. *See Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 253 (citing *Ross*, 148 Wn. App. at 51 ("[W]hether the short-term rental is subject to state tax does not alter the nature of the use").

Wilkinson is correct because there is nothing inherently different between the <u>use</u> of a property by a short-term renter "for the purposes of eating, sleeping, and other residential purposes" versus that of the landowner or long-term renter.

For example, in *Wilkinson* this Court distinguished two prior cases, *Mains Farm Homeowners Ass 'n v. Worthington*, 121 Wn.2d 810, 816, 854 P.2d 1072 (1993) and *Metzner v. Wojdyla*, 125 Wn.2d 445, 886 P.2d 154 (1994), on this point:

In Mains Farm...[w]e held the operation of an adult family home violated a covenant restricting use to " 'single family residential purposes only'" because it was "'more institutional in nature than ... familial'"; "'[t]he single-family residential nature of defendant's use of her home [was] destroyed by the elements of commercialism and around-theclock care.' "*Id.* at 813, 821, 854 P.2d 1072 (emphasis omitted). Similarly, in *Metzner*, we held the operation of a child day care violated a provision requiring properties " 'be used for residential purposes only' " because it involved the exchange of money for care of persons unrelated to the homeowner. 125 Wn.2d at 447, 451, 886 P.2d 154 (emphasis omitted).

Wilkinsons' short-term rental of their properties is distinguishable from the commercial uses in *Mains Farm* and *Metzner*. Both the operations in *Mains Farm* and *Metzner* provided some form of on-site service that the Wilkinsons do not provide to their guests.

Wilkinson, 180 Wn.2d at 253.

Based on the factual record in *Wilkinson* (almost identical to this case), this Court held that "[t]he Wilkinsons' short-term rentals do not, **without more**, violate the 1988/1992 covenant prohibiting commercial use." *Id.* at 253-54 (emphasis added). Here, the Association provides no evidence that renters used the Murphys' property for anything other than eating, sleeping, and other residential purposes.

Even the dissent in *Wilkinson* acknowledged that "[b]oth *Ross* and persuasive out-of-state authority indicate that short-term vacation rentals may be consistent with covenants limiting members to 'single family' and 'residential' use." *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 277 (collecting cases). And neither dissenting opinion would have found short-term rental use to be "commercial use" as a matter of law, as the Association asks this Court to do. Rather, both dissenting opinions would have remanded the case for further factual inquiries, *see Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 262, 271, which the majority addressed. *See id.* at 254, fn. 3.

Thus, *Wilkinson* was and is correct, and the superior court and Division III correctly applied *Wilkinson* to the facts. No basis exists for this Court to depart from the principle of stare decisis and overrule its correct decision in *Wilkinson*. a. The Association Has Not Made a "Clear Showing" That Any Subsequent Legislation Has Rendered the Rule Established in *Wilkinson* Regarding Short-Term Rentals Both "Incorrect and Harmful"

The Association cannot show that *Wilkinson* was incorrect and harmful when decided. It instead argues that the alleged post-*Wilkinson* expansion of the short-term vacation rental industry and legislation warrants overruling *Wilkinson*.¹ However, this argument is a red herring and based on both a fundamental misunderstanding of the principles underpinning *Wilkinson* and misrepresentations of irrelevant state and local legislation. The Association cites no new, persuasive legal authority that would warrant departing from *Wilkinson*.

¹ The Murphys object to the numerous websites the Association cites that were not part of the trial court record and respectfully request that this Court strike them from consideration. *See State v. Stockton*, 97 Wn.2d 528, 530, 647 P.2d 21 (1982) ("Matters referred to in the brief but not included in the record cannot be considered on appeal."). The Association goes far beyond citing "legislative facts."

The Association's summary statement that "[a]fter *Wilkinson* was decided in 2014, local, state, and national authorities . . . passed laws defining STVRs as 'commercial uses' and holding SVTRs to the same commercial business standards as bed-and-breakfasts, hotels, and other lodging businesses"² is unsupported by evidence and irrelevant because *Wilkinson* did not base its decision on the classification of short-term rentals by governmental entities.

This Court in *Wilkinson* and the Court of Appeals in *Ross* already expressly considered and ruled that the fact landowners—or companies through which they list their rental properties—may be required to register with the Department of Revenue (DOR) as a business and/or remit business, occupation, or lodging taxes does not change the nature of the <u>use</u> of the property from residential use to a commercial business. *See Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 253; *Ross*, 148 Wn. App. at 51 (a short-

² Petition for Review at 4.

term rental property owner registered with the DOR as a sole proprietor of a traveler accommodation business located at the address of his rental home and paid excise tax to the DOR for rental income). Additionally, the Association fails to establish that the CCRs' drafters relied on governmental entities' classification of short-term rentals or Washington business classifications for tax purposes. *See e.g., Ross*, 148 Wn. App. at 51.

Nevertheless, the Washington legislature has <u>not</u> passed any legislation purporting to classify and regulate short-term rentals as commercial businesses. The Short-Term Rental Act (RCW 64.37.010–050), effective July 28, 2019, in no way "establishes once and for all the commercial business character of STVRs in Washington state," as the Association erroneously argues. Petition for Review at 16. The bill summary and statutory language clearly show that the purpose is to make "short-term rentals subject to the same local, state, and federal taxes that hotels and bed and breakfast establishments are subject to," require "short-term rental operators to provide certain safety information for guests," and require "short-term rental platforms to register with the DOR and inform operators of their responsibilities in the collection and remittance of taxes." *See* SHB 1798 at 1; RCW 64.37.010–050.

Further, the Association has not provided any legal authority suggesting that requiring short-term rental operators to provide safety information or carry liability insurance to protect guests would change this analysis. In fact, the Short-Term Rental Act specifically distinguishes short-term rentals from "duly licensed bed and breakfast, inn, hotel, motel, or timeshare" properties. See RCW 64.37.010(3), (9)(a). And the guest safety requirements specifically refer to residential—not commercial codes. See, e.g., RCW 64.37.030(1)(b) (requiring short-term rentals to comply with RCW 19.27.530, which sets forth carbon monoxide alarm requirements for all buildings classified as "residential occupancies" or "owner-occupied single-family residences").

The Short-Term Rental Act does not even contain the term "commercial" and the lone reference to "business" is with respect to short-term rental *platforms* (i.e., Airbnb, VRBO, etc.), not owners and renters of subject properties. *See* RCW 64.37.040(1).

Likewise, neither the city of Orondo nor Douglas County have any legislation classifying short-term rentals as commercial businesses. Thus, even if a legislative body's commercial business classification was relevant to whether short-term rentals can be regulated under a commercial or business use restrictive covenant—which it is not—no such classification applies to Association property.

On this basis alone, the Association's argument for disregarding stare decisis fails.

Further, the alleged expansion of the short-term vacation rental industry since *Wilkinson* is irrelevant to whether shortterm rentals are commercial uses. Rather, this Court correctly looked to the nature of a property's <u>use</u> by renters, which is the same as the nature of use by an owner or longer-term renter.

And short-term vacation rentals existed long before shortterm rental platforms. Even short-term rental platforms, such as Airbnb and VRBO, have been widespread since the early 2000s and was a multibillion-dollar industry when *Wilkinson* was decided. Petition for Review at 11–13. Concerns regarding alleged impacts from short-term rental expansion are legislative issues properly addressed by applicable state, county, or local municipalities—not this Court.

The Association's reliance on—and erroneous interpretation of—legislation passed by two Washington cities and one county likewise provides no basis for this Court to set aside stare decisis and upset years of established law on a statewide basis.

In addition to being inapplicable to property located in Orondo, Douglas County, the legislation passed by Seattle and Spokane, for example, does not classify or otherwise seek to regulate short-term rentals as commercial use businesses.

Like the Washington Short-Term Rental Act, Seattle explicitly distinguishes short-term rentals from lodging businesses. *See* SMC 6.600.030 ("'Short-term rental' means a lodging use, **that is not a hotel or motel**, in which a dwelling unit, or portion thereof, that is offered or provided to a guest(s) by a short-term rental operator for a fee for fewer than 30 consecutive nights.") (emphasis added).

The Association disingenuously cites one line from SMC 6.600.010, while leaving out the remaining language which clearly shows the purpose of the ordinance is to preserve housing stock and maintain affordable housing and long-term rentals:

The purpose of the ordinance is to preserve the City's permanent housing stock, balance the economic opportunity created by short-term rentals with the need to maintain supply of long-term rental housing stock available at a range of prices, reduce any indirect negative effects on the availability of affordable housing, create a level playing field for all parties engaged in the business of providing lodging... SMC 6.600.010.

Likewise, the Spokane short-term rental regulations clearly state their purpose is to maintain residential use³ and they contain restrictions distinguishing short-term rentals from traditional business lodging. S*ee, e.g.*, SMC 17C.316.040(B)(3), (4) (limiting adult guests per bedroom and prohibiting nonresident employees from working at residential properties).

Ultimately, the Association cites no relevant legislation or legal authority that supports overturning established, state-wide law to allow associations to restrict short-term rentals by passing new covenants unrelated to existing covenants, with a less than unanimous vote.

³ See SMC 17C.316.040 ("These regulations are intended to allow for a more efficient use of certain types of **residential structures** in a manner which keeps them **primarily in residential use**, and without detracting from neighborhood character. The regulations also provide an alternative form of lodging for visitors who prefer a **residential setting**.") (emphasis added).

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